
 

 
 \ 
, 
 

 
 
 
 
The Sanford City Council met at 6:00 p.m. in the Chambers of the Sanford City Hall Annex 
on Tuesday, June 4, 2019. Mayor: Thomas P. Cote. COUNCILORS: Deputy Mayor 
Lucas J. Lanigan, Councilor Maura A. Herlihy, Councilor Ayn Hanselmann, Councilor 
John L. Tuttle, Jr.; Councilor Joseph R. Hanslip. CITY STAFF: City Manager, Steven 
Buck; Executive Assistant, Lorisa Ricketts; Director of Community Development, Ian 
Houseal; Treasurer, Paula Simpson; City Clerk, Sue Cote; Code Enforcement Officer, 
Jamie Cole. 
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
The regular City Council session began with the Pledge of Allegiance and a moment 
of silence. 
 
Moment of Silence 
 
Roll Call:  
 
Mayor Cote performed the Council roll call: Councilor Hanselmann, present; Councilor 
Tuttle, present; Councilor Hanslip, present; Councilor Herlihy, present; Deputy Mayor 
Lanigan, present. 
 
Councilor Stackpole, absent with notice. 
 
Minutes 
 
19-331-01 Ordered, to approve the minutes from the City Council Meeting held 

on May 21, 2019. 
 

Deputy Mayor Lanigan motioned to approve; Councilor Tuttle 
seconded. Motion passed 6-0.  

 
Mayor’s Report/City Council Sub-Committee Reports 
 
Mayor Cote asked the City Councilors to meet at 5:00 PM ahead of the City 
Council meeting on June 19, 2019 for a Council work session. 

Memorial Day Parade was well attended. Bike Fest had over 125 participants and 
everyone had a good time. 

Sanford City Council  
City Council Meeting Minutes – June 4, 2019 



 

City Manager's Report 
 
City Manager Buck presented a brief report. Both Revenue Sharing and 
Homestead Tax Credit have been increased at the State level. SanfordNet Fiber 
testing starts on Monday; still planning on lighting of network by July 1. Councilor 
Stackpole said speeds for the network should be certified. Manager Buck 
explained a bit more about the testing process. 
 
Communications/Presentations 
 
None. 
 
Public Participation 
 
Nicholas Farrar asked if it is possible to set up a community garden in Sanford. 
Councilor Herlihy said there is one in Carpentier Park. Councilor Hanselmann said 
the Mousam Way Land Trust also has one and would be happy to share the 
information with him. 
 
Mr. Farrar stated that there are a couple of trails that are missing from the walking 
trails. Mayor Cote told Mr. Farrar to speak with Lee Burnett of the Trails 
Committee. 
 
Public Hearings 
 
The City Council will take public comment on the following: 
 

19-332-01 A public hearing to receive comments on the renewal of the Special 
Amusement Permit and the liquor license renewal with malt, 
spirituous and vinous privileges from Pho Saigon Restaurant, LLC 
D/B/A: Pho Saigon Restaurant, 890 Main St. Unit 203, Sanford, 
Maine. 

 
Mayor Cote noted that this item was amended to include renewal of 
Special Amusement Permit. 
 
Public Hearing opened at 6:27 PM. No public comment. Public hearing 
closed at 6:27 PM. 

 
19-308-01 A public hearing for the purpose of deciding whether or not to 

discontinue, pursuant to the provisions of 23 M.R.S.A. § 3026-A, a 
portion of the public way known as July Street, shown in the 
proposed Order of Discontinuance, and to determine what damages, 



 

if any, should be paid to property owners abutting such way if it is 
discontinued. 

 
Daniel McGuire from Sandy River Development spoke about the 
project to replace the Newton Center; 30 memory care beds and the 
rest assisted care. Are making progress on the project; now have 
State approval and have Planning Board approval. Still waiting for 
DEP approval. Hope to break ground in October of this year. Will be 
a one story building, 65,000 square feet, but will feel quite small. 
Working closely with the neighbors. 
 
Councilor Tuttle asked how communications with the neighbors have 
gone. Have had two neighborhood meetings with 10 or 12 people at 
each meeting. 
 
Kendra Ramsell from Sebago Technics presented the proposed 
layout for the new building. Councilor Tuttle asked what will happen 
to the current residents. They were given the option to move to the 
new facility and most of them will be moving. 
 
Councilor Herlihy asked if the different wings will be broken up. Mr. 
McGuire explained that nursing facilities are not what they used to be 
– have a strong rehabilitation focus now. One wing will be 
rehabilitation, one wing will be for memory care, and one for long-
term care. Councilor Herlihy said she loves the layout and thinks it is 
very respectful of the seniors. 
 
Deputy Mayor Lanigan asked about the traffic impact. The number of 
beds will actually be reduced so the traffic impact will be lowered. 
 
Mayor Lanigan said he looks forward to seeing the project progress; 
it is much needed in the community. 

 
Mayor Cote opened the public hearing at 6:28 PM. No public 
comment. Public hearing closed at 6:40 PM. 

 
19-319-01 A Public Hearing to discuss a Community Development Block Grant 

for the 2019 Downtown Revitalization Grant Program in the amount 
of $300,000. 

 
Mayor Cote opened the public hearing at 6:40 PM. Lee Burnett 
presented information about the scope of the project. Benjamin and 



 

Sarah Meggs will be focusing their matching work on improving 
facades and improving signage. There are a few more hoops to run 
through, but possibly may start in the fall. 
 
Deputy Mayor Lanigan asked if there is a group that will oversee 
how the funds are spent. Mr. Burnett said there is an advisory 
committee being formed to act as a sounding board and vetting the 
project. 
 
Public hearing closed at 6:44 PM. 

 
19-337-01 A public hearing on an ordinance amending City Code, Chapter 120 

and 220 regarding solid waste disposal, the use of the transfer 
station, and amending the fees for residential solid waste collection 
and disposal of material at the transfer station. 

 
Mayor Cote opened the public hearing at 6:44 PM. Director Hill 
spoke regarding revisions to solid waste, recycling and Pay as You 
Throw. He reminded people that plastic bags can’t be recycled. New 
solid waste contract has cost that has gone from $0 to $65 per ton. 
PAYT bag prices will reflect that change. Nine Dragons plant will be 
able to take and recycle paper waste. Did a survey of other regional 
transfer station prices and have made recommendations for bringing 
Sanford’s transfer station pricing more in line with them. Cost to the 
public is still lower than the true cost of disposal to the City. 
 
Councilor Tuttle said a lot of people are asking why the cost of the 
orange bags is going up so much. The change is covering the 
increased cost of disposal and increased contract price. 
 
Councilor Stackpole pointed out that the price hasn’t gone up since 
the program began, so if the price increase is broken down over 
time, the increase is not large. Manager Buck said the increase over 
time was 5.8%. Councilor Stackpole said nobody likes to see the 
price go up, but to keep it in perspective. 
 
Councilor Hanselmann pointed out the tipping cost on recycling is 
still lower than tipping cost for solid waste, so the more that is 
recycled, the less will be spent on orange bags. 
 
Councilor Herlihy expressed dissatisfaction with the way the 
ordinance revisions would work and the effect it would have on 
apartment dwellers and operators of apartment buildings. 
 
Deputy Mayor Lanigan said he would like to revisit this again in 
subcommittee. 
 



 

Mayor Cote reminded the Council that this is only the first of two 
readings and amendments can be made. 
 
Deputy Mayor Lanigan pointed out that the fee for yard waste needs 
to be amended in line with what was discussed at subcommittee – 
was lowered to $0 to encourage people to use the service. 
 
David Houle Representing Apache Campground. Agrees for the 
most part with the amendments and re licensing for commercial 
haulers. Campground hauls recyclables to Simpson. The 
campground does carry bags for sale like stores do. They provide 
bags for the short-term campers. Does have an issue with paying 
extra to bring small amounts of recyclables to the transfer station. 
 
Public hearing closed at 7:21 PM. 

 
 

Consent Agenda 
 

19-334-01 Ordered, to approve the following license requests: 
 
 

1. An application for renewal of the City Special Amusement 
Permit and liquor license renewal with malt, spirituous, and 
vinous privileges from Pho Saigon Restaurant, LLC D/B/A: Pho 
Saigon Restaurant, 890 Main St., Unit 203, Sanford, ME 04073 

 
Mayor Cote sought questions or comments from the Council on the 
Consent Agenda. Seeing no questions or comments, the motion was 
approved. 

 
Old Business 
 
17-178-01 Ordered, to discontinue, pursuant to pursuant to 23 M.R.S.A §3026-

A, a portion of July Street (Hill Crest Avenue) as set forth in the 
Order of Discontinuance. This item must be read on two occasions. 
This is the first reading. 

 
18-165-01 Ordained, a residency restriction on persons convicted of Class A, B, 

or C sex offenses committed against persons who had not attained 14 
years of age, at the time of the offense, from residing within 750 feet 
of any public or private school, municipally or state-owned park, 
athletic field, recreational facility or property. This item must be read 
on two separate days. This is a second reading. 



 

 
Councilor Tuttle moved to approve. Deputy Mayor Lanigan seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 
 
Councilor Stackpole asked how an individual will know if they are 
within a restricted area. Director Houseal responded that the 
information will be periodically communicated to rental units. Manager 
Buck stated that a map of the restricted areas would be added as an 
overlay on the City’s GIS. 
 
Councilor Herlihy said that if she had a unit within a restricted zone, 
she would put that information in the property description and lease so 
that potential renters will be informed. 

 
 
New Business 

 
19-310-01 Presentation of a Proclamation recognizing Diane Higgins, of Diane's 

School of Dance, on the occasion of her retirement after 53 years, 
for her contribution to the community. 

 

Councilor Tuttle shared a story about his daughter Megan, who was 
one of Diane’s students. 

 
 
19-336-01 Ordered, for the City Council to authorize the New England 

Aerobatic Club the opportunity to practice at Sanford Seacoast 
Regional Airport on August 3rd (rain date the 4th) and on 
September 7th (rain date the 8th). 

 
Airport Manager Rogers explained the event has been happening 
almost annually and is cool; can be opened to the public. Airport 
Advisory Committee is working on ordinances; would recommend 
amending so in future this does not need to come before the City 
Council each year. Manager Buck said this makes sense for 
aeronautical activities and said he has tasked Manager Rogers 
with providing a future recommended amendment. 

 
Councilor Herlihy moved to approve. Councilor Tuttle seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 

 



 

19-326-01 Ordered, to approve street closure along William Oscar Emery Drive 
for the annual July 3 Fireworks and Festivities and along Main Street 
for the July 4 Parade (July 5 rain date for fireworks). 

 
Parks & Rec Director Alan Grady shared details of the upcoming 
events. 
 
Councilor Tuttle congratulated Director Grady on the excellent job 
he’s doing on facilities. 
 
Deputy Mayor Lanigan said that last year there were people who had 
problems accessing the fireworks. Director Grady explained the 
arrangements that are in place for this year’s festivities to 
accommodate people with mobility limitations. 

 
Councilor Herlihy moved to approve. Deputy Mayor Lanigan seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 

 
19-335-01 Ordered, to approve the City of Sanford hosting the second annual 

Sanford on Tap brewfest and food truck festival on Saturday, 
August 17, 2019 from 1-6 PM. 
 
Director Grady shared details on the event. 
 
Councilor Herlihy asked about the layout of the event and Director 
Grady explained that food trucks will be on Roberts Street and beer 
tasting will be on the field at Goodall Park. There may be an area 
set up with tables for people to eat inside the fence at Goodall 
Park. 

 
Councilor Herlihy moved to approve. Deputy Mayor Lanigan seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 

 
19-338-01 Ordered, to approve a request to close off Stanley Road and 

redirect traffic to Morrison Road for one hour between 8:30 a.m. - 
9:30 a.m. on Saturday, June 29 to accommodate the Randall's 
Run/Walk for the Gym 5k race. 

 
Organizers have noticed an increase in traffic over the years and 
are concerned about the safety of the participants. 

 
Councilor Herlihy moved to approve. Councilor Tuttle seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 



 

 
19-320-01 Ordered, to approve a Resolution to formally accept a Downtown 

Revitalization Grant in the amount of $300,000 from the State of Maine 
Community Development Block Grant Program to be used to 
restructure the Mid-Town Mall parking lot to include facade 
improvement and to authorize the City Manager to execute associated 
documents 

 
Councilor Tuttle moved to approve. Councilor Herlihy seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 
 
Deputy Mayor Lanigan asked how the allocation of funds occurs. 
Manager Buck explained that the funds are paid out from DECD on a 
cost reimbursement basis. 

 
19-313-01 Ordered, to approve the request from Sanford Lodge of Elks 1470, 13 

Elm Street, Sanford Maine, to extend their alcohol consumption area 
per the attached diagram for Saturday June 15, 2019. 

 
Councilor Herlihy moved to approve. Deputy Mayor Lanigan seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 

 
19-300-01 Ordered, to accept a MaineDOT Municipal Partnership Initiative 

(MPI) funding proposal towards reconstruction of Old Mill Road in 
2020 as applied for by the Department of Public Works. 

 
Director Hill explained the background on this item. 
 
Counselor Tuttle offered congratulations on lower June Street and 
Shaw Road and said Public Works did a great job. 

 
Councilor Herlihy moved to approve. Councilor Tuttle seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 

 
19-294-01 Ordered, to accept the Department of Public Works change to the 

hours of the Transfer Station to Tuesday through Saturday from 
8:00 am to 3:30 pm. 

 
Councilor Herlihy made a motion to discuss. Deputy Mayor 
Lanigan seconded. 
 
Councilor Herlihy said she had no problem with the changes 
during the week but stated the Council had a presentation from 
the former operator of the transfer station regarding how quiet the 



 

transfer station was on Saturday afternoons. She recommends 
cutting the 3:30 closure time to 1:00. 
 
Mayor Cote said he would support the Department of Public 
Works changes. 
 
Deputy Mayor Lanigan asked if this would make staffing easier 
on Saturday. Director Hill said that making Saturdays 8 hour days 
will reduce the number of days where staff are off. Deputy Mayor 
Lanigan asked whether the additional hours might give staff more 
opportunity to take care of the cleaning and maintenance of the 
station; Director Hill said yes, probably. 

 
Motion passed 5-1. Councilor Herlihy dissented. 

 
19-327-01 Ordered, to approve a request for a one day special event 

permit for a tented wedding at 49 Shaws Ridge Rd (R9-12A & 
R6-45) on June 22, 2019. 

 
CEO Cole explained that Gina Sawtelle is in the process of 
obtaining her permit for events on the site; this request is to help 
her be able to have an event in the interim. Scheduled for site 
plan approval next Tuesday; this was just to  
 
Councilor Stackpole asked about parking. CEO Cole explained 
there is a large gravel area that can be used for parking for this 
event and for future events. 
 
City Manager Buck said Ms. Sawtelle is a prime example of 
business friendly approach: she was daunted by the process 
and has gotten professional advice; he commends her for all of 
her work. 
 
Mayor Cote appreciates the creativity in helping this business. 

 
Councilor Tuttle moved to approve. Deputy Mayor Lanigan seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 
 

19-339-01 Ordered, to set the City Council meeting dates for July, 
2019 as follows: 

 
Tuesday, July 9 at 6:00 PM 



 

Tuesday, July 23 at 6:00 PM 
 

Councilor Tuttle moved to approve. Deputy Mayor Lanigan seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 

 
19-311-01 Ordered, to accept funds due to Criminal Forfeiture pursuant to 

15 M.R.S.A. § 5824(3) and § 5826(6). 
 

Chief Connolly presented regarding this item. 
 
Deputy Mayor Lanigan asked whether the recent Supreme Court 
ruling on excessive seizure of assets will affect this sort of action; 
Chief Connolly said that the action was initiated by the State 
Attorney General’s Office, so it would not be affected. 

 
Councilor Tuttle moved to approve. Councilor Stackpole seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 

 
19-289-01 Ordered, as adopted by resolution of the Sanford City Council on 

June 4, 2019, to support the Maine Department of Transportation in 
its scoping efforts to address safety concerns at specified locations 
in Sanford. 
 
Director Hill presented regarding the work that Maine DOT is scoping 
for improving safety. 
 
Councilor Stackpole expressed his support for the proposed safety 
improvements. 
 
Deputy Mayor Lanigan asked regarding safety at the entrance to the 
new school. Director Hill said that an analysis is currently underway. 

 
Councilor Tuttle moved to approve. Deputy Mayor Lanigan seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 

 
19-274-01 Ordained, amendments to City Code, Chapter 120 and 220 regarding 

solid waste disposal, the use of the transfer station, and amending 
the fees for residential solid waste collection and disposal of material 
at the transfer station. This item must be read on two occasions. This 
is the first reading. 

 
19-301-01 Ordered, to accept a contract extension for a street sign inventory and 

operations module in the City's existing GIS system from CAI 



 

Technologies of Littleton, New Hampshire (formerly GIS Mapping and 
Analysis). 

 
Director Hill explained that the city’s street signs will be captured in 
this system and allow for coordination of future maintenance. 
 
Deputy Mayor Lanigan asked regarding Heidi Lane signage. Director 
Hill explained how the decision was made. 

 
Councilor Tuttle moved to approve. Councilor Stackpole seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 

 
19-328-01 Ordered to review and accept a revised contract with EcoMaine for 

downstream acceptance of single-sort recycling at a base rate of 
$65.00 per ton. 

 
This item was discussed at the Solid Waste Subcommittee. One 
clause he is uncomfortable with is a pre-existing clause that would 
allow EcoMaine to charge the City for an amount of shortfall if they 
don’t realize the amount from recyclables what they anticipated, 
and he couldn’t recommend approval. 
 
Mayor Cote asked if this item should be tabled for additional 
discussion at Solid Waste Committee and brought back in two 
weeks. 

 
Councilor Tuttle moved to table. Deputy Mayor Lanigan seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 

 
19-200-01 Ordered, to accept a two-year contract extension from the City's 

current MSW and Recycling Hauler, Casella Resource Solutions. 
 

Director Hill said this contract is cleaner and there was good 
discussion with Casella on it and he recommended approval. 

 
Councilor Tuttle moved to approve. Councilor Stackpole seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 

 
19-295-01 Ordered, to approve the Waste Zero proposed contract as recently 

received. 
 

City Manager Buck stated there had been several changes made to 
the contract. He spoke to Waste Zero and they are amenable. He 
explained the changes that have been made to the contract. 



 

 
Councilor Herlihy asked if anything had been added regarding quality 
control. Manager Buck said he discussed this with Waste Zero.  Last 
time they discussed, they had an outdated production machine which 
has been taken out of production and replaced. Have now hired a new 
CEO from Hefty, including their quality control person. 
 
Councilor Hanselmann asked why exchange of bags can’t be done at 
the point of sale. Manager Buck explained that having exchange of 
bags happen at Public Works reduces the burden on the retailers who 
are carrying the bags at no cost to the City. Director Hill stated that 
Public Works is notified immediately with this system because problem 
bags come straight to them. 
 
Mayor Cote commented on past quality issues and said that time will 
tell. He wants a product that has the minimum expectations of garbage 
bags. Feels there are probably more people who have issues with 
bags 
 
Councilor Tuttle moved to approve the contract with amendments as 
recommended by City Manager Buck. Councilor Herlihy seconded. 
Motion passed 6-0. 

 
Council Member Comments 
 
Councilor Hanselmann: Congratulations to graduates. Sanford Adult Ed and Sanford High 
School. 
 
Councilor Stackpole:  Enjoyed walking in the parade; now has two good knees; was very 
nice to be able to walk that and stand for the ceremony.  Attended Bike Fest – was great to 
see the turnout. 
 
Councilor Tuttle: No chickens this week. 
 
Councilor Hanslip: none. 
 
Councilor Herlihy: none. 
 
Deputy Mayor Lanigan: Congratulations to his son – he has made his parents very proud. 
Will be attending SMCC to become a police officer and return to Sanford or a neighboring 
community to work. Congratulations to the Class of 2019. 
 
Mayor Cote: Congratulations to the graduating class. Also a big congratulations to his 
daughter Paige, who committed to the UNH basketball program and will be a Wildcat. Very 
proud of her. 
 
Future Agenda Items 
 



 

Deputy Mayor Lanigan: Lights on Roberts Street for Property Sub. 
Mayor Cote will send something out re next work session. 
 
Adjournment 
 
Mayor Cote moved to adjourn regular meeting at 8:43 PM. 
 
Respectfully submitted by Lorisa Ricketts, Executive Assistant. 
 
 


	City Manager's Report
	Consent Agenda
	Old Business
	New Business
	Future Agenda Items

